0/a 11-6 89

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| FIL. |
|----------------------|
| AUG 28 1039 C |
| CLERK, SUPSEME COURT |
| Deputy Oloria_ MPL |
| CASE NO. 74,166 |

KENNETH A. FORRESTER,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S AMENDED BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA **BAR #271543** LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA **32301** (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE FIRST DISTRICT'S REQUIREMENT THAT APPEL-LATE COUNSEL TELL THE COURT THE RESULT OF CONVERSATIONS WITH THE TRIAL LAWYER REGARDING THE MERIT OR LACK-OF MERIT OF ISSUES HE PLANS TO RAISE ON APPEAL VIOLATES FORRESTER'S RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AS GUARAN-TEED UNDER THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND IT ALSO FORCES APPELLATE COUNSEL TO VIOLATE THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT.

The First District Court of Appeal's order in this case forces appellate counsel, in essence, to tell the appellate court why his client should lose. It also forces appellate counsel to violate several sections of Florida's Rules of Professional Conduct. If this were necessary for justice to prevail, appellate counsel would not have come to this court. But it is not. The First District has created an unnecessary mechanism to solve a problem that the adversarial system has already solved.

As mentioned in the Statement of the Case, the objectionable portion of the First District's opinion focuses upon the actions appellate counsel must take if he has decided the appeal is without merit. Specifically, on page 8 of its opinion, the First District said appellate counsel must talk with trial counsel about the merits of the appeal, and trial counsel must agree with appellate counsel's evaluation of the

- 6 -

frivolousness of the case. If trial counsel does not agree, then appellate counsel must

include ...a satisfactory explanation of why such concurrence could not be obtained. We consider it essential that an <u>Anders</u> brief which contains a representation that the appeal is wholly frivolous or without merit <u>shall</u> contain also the above representation of appellate counsel's having communicated with trial counsel.

(emphasis in opinion.)

Yet that requirement creates significant legal and ethical problems for appellate counsel who already faces a serious ethical crisis. Despite its legal overtones, the frivolous brief is essentially an ethical problem. It is the most difficult recurring ethical problem appellate counsel in a criminal case faces.² The problem arises when appellate counsel's ethical obligation to zealously represent his client clashes with his duty to not pursue frivolous appeals. A series of U.S. Supreme Court cases has sought to resolve this dilemma, but in the effort it has lost sight of the role appellate counsel plays in the adversarial system. This court need not and should not follow all that the Supreme Court has said in this area of the law.

²A frivolous argument is one "which cannot conceivably persuade the court." <u>United States v. Edwards</u>, 777 F.2d 364, 365 (7th Cir. 1985).

THE LEGAL ANALYSIS OF THE ETHICAL DILEMMA Anders v. California.

Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396, 18 L.Ed.2d 493 (1967) is the leading case in this area. In that case, appellate counsel had written a letter to the court that had appointed him telling it that Anders' case had no merit. It also said Anders wanted to file his own brief which he did after the court refused to appoint another lawyer for him. The appellate court subsequently affirmed his conviction.

When the U.S. Supreme Court reviewed the case, it rejected the no merit letter as being sufficient to discharge appellate counsel's Sixth Amendment obligations to Anders. The foundation for this conclusion arose from cases such as <u>Gideon v.</u> <u>Wainwright</u>, **372** U.S. **335**, **83** S.Ct. 792, **18** L.Ed.2d **799 (1963)** where the court said the assistance of counsel is not a luxury but a necessity, and "such representation must be in the role of an advocate....rather than as amicus curiae." Id. at **741.** (cite omitted.)

In place of the no merit letter, the court created what became know as the <u>Anders</u>' brief.

Of course, if counsel finds his case to be wholly frivolous, after a conscientious examination of it, he should so advise the court and request permission to withdraw. That request must, however, be accompanied by a brief referring to anything in the record that might arguably support the appeal. A copy of counsel's brief should be furnished to the indigent and time allowed him to raise any points that he chooses; the court - not counsel - then proceeds, after a full examination of all the proceedings, to decide whether the case is wholly frivolous. If it so finds it may grant counsel's request to withdraw and dismiss the appeal insofar as federal

- 8 -

requirements are concerned, or proceed to a decision on the merits, if state law so requires. On the other hand, if it finds any of the legal points arguable on their merits (and therefore not frivolous) it must, prior to decision, afford the indigent the assistance of counsel to argue the appeal.

Even when counsel can find nothing to raise on appeal, he remains an advocate by pointing out to the court anything that might conceivably be reversible error. Of course, what he shows the court may not be error, but he has done his best to represent the interests of his client even though the appeal is frivolous.

The <u>Anders</u> brief does not present appointed counsel at his most brilliant best, but he has done all that the law and ethics allow. He has remained an advocate for his indigent client. If he becomes an amicus for the court and tells them why his client's case lacks merit, his client is denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel. The person who advocates his cause is now working to defeat him. If he says nothing, he has likewise not done his most to effectively represent his client. The balance struck in <u>Anders</u> forces defense counsel to walk a fine line between doing nothing and doing too much. Two cases from the federal courts show the pitfalls of going too far in either direction.

Lower court reaction to Anders.

In <u>United States v. Blackwell</u>, 767 F.2d 1486 (11th Cir. 1985) counsel moved to withdraw from the appeal because it was frivolous. The brief contained eight pages of excerpted trial

- 9 -

testimony and the <u>Anders'</u> requirements. It also contained a statement that Blackwell's attorney could find no arguable issues.

On appeal to the Eleventh Circuit, the court directed defense counsel to file another brief pointing to any "irregularities which may arguably give rise to appellate grounds." <u>Id</u>. at 1488. In <u>Blackwell</u>, appointed counsel had not done enough to effectively represent his client.

In <u>Robinson v. Black</u>, 812 F.2d 1084 (8th Cir. 1987), appellate counsel filed a 16 page brief, and for seven of those pages counsel "openly supported the trial court's various rulings with case citations and counsel's own opinions." Id. at 1085. The Eighth Circuit disapproved of appellate counsel's treatment of the issues: "Counsel changed the adversarial process into an inquisitorial one by joining the forces of the state and working against his client. Id. <u>Accord</u>, <u>Smith v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 384 F.2d 649, 650 (8th Cir. 1967) ("The cause of advocacy is not served to read a brief filed by appellant's own counsel asserting the government's position in the case.")

At the state level, this court and the other appellate courts in Florida have followed the procedure generally outlined in <u>Anders</u>. e.g. <u>Cooke v. State</u>, 519 So.2d 31 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); <u>Rodriquez v. State</u>, 483 So.2d 557 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); <u>Davis v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 426 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); <u>Hippensteel</u> <u>v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 1027 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988). None has even remotely suggested appellate counsel follow the procedure

- 10 -

announced by the First District in this **case**.³ This court in <u>State v. Causey</u>, 503 So.2d 321 (Fla. 1987) has also abided the <u>Anders</u> procedure when it told the First District that <u>Anders</u> required the appellate court to review the entire record. The First District in <u>Causey</u>, said <u>Anders</u> did not require such review. <u>Causey v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 1263 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

Recent U.S. Supreme Court Decisions.

The Supreme Court redefined the purpose of the <u>Anders</u> brief when it next considered frivolous criminal appeals. In <u>McCoy v. Court of Appeals of Wisconsin</u>, 486 U.S. ___, 108 S.Ct. ___, 100 L.Ed.2d 440 (1988), the court approved a Wisconsin statute which required counsel to explain why his client's case was frivolous or lacked merit. Id. 100 L.Ed.2d at 454. Such a requirement did not violate McCoy's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel because if counsel has admitted his client's case is frivolous, the client is not hurt if his lawyer explains why it is frivolous. Id. at 456. Instead of

³The closest any court has come to the First District's approach was the Fifth District in <u>Folds v</u> State _______So.2d ____, (Fla. 5th DCA February 2, 1989), 14 FLW 356. In that case appellate counsel wanted to supplement the record on appeal with the trial transcript to make sure no reversible error had occurred at trial. Trial counsel had filed a notice of appeal relating only to the sentencing. Denying appellate counsel's motion to supplement, the Fifth District said, "This rule [Rule 9.140(d) Fla.R.App.P.) places primary responsibility on the trial counsel, not separate appellate counsel, to select the appropriate appellate issues and specifically limits its the transcript to that which is necessary to support those issues."

emphasizing the need to maintain the advocate's role, the court defined the <u>Anders</u>' brief as a "device for assuring that the constitutional rights of indigent defendants are scrupulously honored." Id. at 456. Instead of viewing the requirement to tell the court why a case is frivolous as a denial of a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective counsel, the court saw it **as** an additional "safeguard against mistaken conclusions by counsel that the strongest arguments he or she can find are frivolous." Id. at 456. "Counsel may discover previously unrecognized aspects of the law in the process of preparing a written explanation for his or her conclusion." Id.

That is a circular justification. If counsel had found such "unrecognized aspects of the law" he would not have filed the <u>Anders</u> brief. He would have argued the issue on the merits. Now counsel must shed his role as an advocate for the defendant and become an advocate for the state. Instead of advocating anything that might conceivably be arguable, counsel must justify his decision to file a no merit brief.

<u>Penson v. Ohio</u>, 488 U.S. ___, 109 S.Ct. ___, 102 L.Ed.2d 300 (1988) is the latest case dealing with the <u>Anders</u> problem. In that case, defense counsel on appeal had filed a no-merit letter similar to the one filed in <u>Anders</u>. The court allowed counsel to withdraw from representing Penson, but it later granted Penson partial relief from several of his convictions without requiring any briefs from Penson or the State. Penson had suffered no prejudice, the State court said, because the appellate court had thoroughly examined the record, and it had

- 12 -

received the benefit of the arguments in briefs filed by Penson's co-defendants.

The Supreme Court said the Ohio court erred in not requiring an Anders' brief.

The so-called "Anders brief" serves the valuable purpose of assisting the court in determining both that counsel in fact conducted the required detailed review of the case and that the appeal is indeed so frivolous that it may be decided without an adversary presentation.

Id. 102 L.Ed.2d at 309-310.

The significant error, however, was that the court had not appointed new counsel to represent Penson once the court found arguable claims. Id. Judges judge, they do not argue.

The Supreme Court did not say the court had erred in simply not appointing counsel. Instead, it suggested the court had erred in not appointing <u>new</u>, meaning different, counsel to represent Penson.⁴

The court in <u>Penson</u> and more so in <u>McCoy</u> redefined the purpose of the <u>Anders</u> brief. Rather than being the strongest argument an advocate can make in a frivolous case, as the court in <u>Anders</u> intended, the brief now becomes a tool to convince the court that counsel has reviewed the case and found it frivolous. The brief is not so much an advocacy of the defendant's case as it is a tool for the court to use to conclude

^{&#}x27;Whether the Sixth Amendment requires different counsel to represent Penson on appeal is unclear from the court's opinion, but for ethical reasons, the court should have appointed another lawyer to argue Penson's meritorious issues.

the case is frivolous. Thus, the court's conclusion in McCoy logically follows. What could be of more assistance to the court in determining the frivolousness of a case than an explanation, from defense counsel, of why the case lacks merit?

While the Sixth Amendment may countenance appellate counsel briefing the case against his client, this court need not follow the Supreme Court's lead in McCoy, and it should not. Instead, according to an accused person's right to the assistance of counsel guaranteed under Article I Section 16 of the Florida Constitution, this court should let appellate counsel retain his adversary role, and maintain the confidence of his client that counsel will represent him, and not justify his legal position.

The First District's unique procedure⁵ evidently springs from its desire to insure that appellate counsel has not overlooked an arguable issue. Trial counsel presumably filed the notice of appeal in good faith that some reversible issue occurred at trial. Thus, common sense dictates that he would be the natural one to talk to about the frivolousness of the

⁵No court outside of Florida has adopted the procedure the First District has created. <u>People v. Wende</u>, 600 P.2d 1071 (Calif. 1979); <u>State v. Horine</u>, 669 P.2d 797 (Or. 1983); <u>Commonwealth v. Moffett</u>, 418 N.E. 2d 585 (Mass. 1981); <u>State v.</u> <u>Gates</u>, 466 S.W.2d 681 (Mo. 1971); <u>Dixon v. State</u>, 284 N.E.2d 102 (Ind. 1972); <u>Huguley v. State</u>, 324 S.E.2d 279 (Ga. 1985); <u>Killingsworth v. State</u>, 490 So.2d 849 (Miss. 1986). See also <u>IV ABA Standards for Criminal Justice</u> (2d Ed. 1980), Standard 21-3.2.

issue. He may be able to give appellate counsel some insight into the case that is not readily apparent on the record.

Like the Supreme Court in McCoy, the First District has ignored appellate counsel's role as an advocate in favor of one who helps the court in making sure the case is frivolous. The First District does not realize that the Anders brief is an advocates' brief. The underlying philosophy of Anders is that appellate counsel can never relinquish his role as an advocate. Of course, he may have admitted the issues he raised are frivolous, but he has said that to satisfy his ethical obligations. That confession, however, can in no way qualify or limit his role as an advocate. For appellate counsel to do less undermines the justifications for the adversarial system. Thus, the Anders brief cannot assist the court "in reaching the critical determination that an appeal may be concluded without an adversary presentation." Forrester v. State, 542 So.2d 1358 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), slip opinion at 9.

Moreover, appellate counsel does not understand how knowing whether trial and appellate counsel agree or not that the case is frivolous helps the court decide the issue is frivolous. After all, as the Supreme Court said in <u>Anders</u> and other cases, courts and not counsel determine whether a case is frivolous. But the First District's order accomplishes the opposite of this by ordering counsel to tell them either why the case has no merit or that everyone agrees it has no merit. Instead of one no-merit letter, it gets two, or if there is no

- 15 -

agreement, it gets a "satisfactory" explanation why the defendant should lose.

If the defendant's two lawyers agree the case is frivolous, it means appellate counsel has convinced trial counsel that the issues he thought were meritorious were not. But such unanimity can only tend to reduce the appellate courts sense of concern that a meritorious issue has been overlooked. That is, the appellate court must conduct "a full examination of all the proceedings, to decide whether the case is wholly frivolous. <u>Anders</u>, at 744. <u>State v. Causey</u>, 503 So.2d 321 (Fla. 1987). If the two advocates for the defendant agree his case has no merit, the natural tendency for a reviewing court is to relax its vigilance.

On the other hand, if counsel disagree, then appellate counsel has to satisfactorily explain the reason for the discrepancy. <u>Forrester</u>, slip opinion at p. 8. Requiring this explanation amounts to telling the court why the defendant should lose. Appellate counsels' explanation, more so than the explanation required by the Wisconsin statute, requires appellate counsel to actively, and extensively if necessary, explain why his client should lose.⁶

⁶The Wisconsin Supreme interpreted its rule as more in the nature of putting the court on "notice" regarding the nonmeritorious nature of the case. It explicitly said that counsel need not "engage in a protracted argument in favor of the conclusion reached." <u>McCoy</u> at 100 L.Ed.2d **449** quoting from <u>McCoy v. State</u>, **403** NW2d **454** (Wis. **1987).** The First District (Footnote Continued)

But defense counsel is ill suited to explain why his client should lose. His natural inclination is to defend his client, to present the strongest case for him. The <u>Anders</u> brief counsel filed in this case, even though it did not meet the First District's standards, was a painful experience. Admitting defeat is never easy, and the <u>Anders</u> brief at least lets counsel maintain his position as an advocate, although as one who can only stand by and watch his client lose.

The Wisconsin approach, and the one adopted by the First District, forces defense counsel to join the hunt and participate in the kill. Such conduct by defense counsel not only destroys whatever confidence the defendant had in appellate counsel, it weakens his confidence in our adversarial system.⁷ In such an instance, the defendant can only conclude that counsel is not representing him. Instead he is justifying his decision to an appellate court. How much trust in a system of justice can an indigent defendant have when his advocate becomes his executioner?

^{&#}x27;The Supreme Court in Polk County v. Dodson, 454 U.S. 312, 324, 102 S.Ct 445, 709 L.Ed.2d 509 (1981) acknowledged that Public Defenders faced with filing an <u>Anders</u> brief may be seen as "hostile state actors'' by the defendants they represent. While they said this view was unfortunate and had little justification, the reality is that <u>defendants</u> have that perception. Such perceptions, whether justified or not, can only weaken the confidence those accused of crime have in the justness of the criminal justice system.



⁽Footnote Continued) has extended <u>Forrester</u> in at least one case so that defense counsel has to tell the court why a case should be affirmed (Appendix D).

No, the best party to present the case why the defendant should lose is the State. After all, that is the party whose eyes glint, whose lips snarl, and whose hand tightens on the sword at the mention of reversible error. They are the ones who are best suited to support defense counsel's conclusion the case has no merit.

In short, the Wisconsin statute and the First District approach have created a solution for a non-existent problem. This court should maintain the adversarial nature of the appeal. Let Defense counsel make his weak or nonexistent arguments as required by <u>Anders</u> but require the State to come forward with the citations and the arguments why the defendant should lose. This court should not require defense counsel to abandon his normal adversarial role and adopt an amicus position at best and an antagonistic role against his client at worst. Perverting the adversarial system, especially when it is unnecessary, and creating distrust in that system are the inevitable results of the First Districts solution. The better approach maintains, to the greatest extent possible, the traditional roles of the parties.

THE ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Other elusive, yet real considerations support this conclusion. The <u>Anders</u> brief is at heart an ethical problem, and the U.S. Supreme Court elevated the ethical considerations presented by the frivolous appeal to constitutional level in

- 18 -

<u>Anders</u>. It ignored them in <u>McCoy</u>, yet this court, as a matter of state law and ethics, should not.

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