0/a 689

# IN SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KENNETH ATWOOD FORRESTER,

Petitioner,

vs .

ł

Case No. 74,166

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.



SID J. WHITE

MERITS

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD E. DORAN '--DIRECTOR, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 00325104

JAMES W. ROGERS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0325791

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

By its decision in this case, the District Court of Appeal has effectively written a rule of conduct for courtappointed defense attorneys and public defenders regarding the method by which they are to proceed in filing briefs pursuant to <u>Anders v. California</u>. Because this decision squarely impacts a class of constitutional officers, the Attorney General of Florida has joined the petition filed by the Public Defender seeking this Court's review.

<u>Forrester</u> is grounded on two questionable assumptions. First, there is no support for its implication that privately retained lawyers will argue issues that court-appointed lawyers or public defenders will not argue merely because the former are paid by their clients. Furthermore, there is little evidence to indicate that a problem exists regarding ineffective assistance of counsel by various public defenders in the state. On the contrary, this Court should note that the great majority of appellate dispositions in criminal cases are by means of a *per curiam* affirmance or "PCA."

A second false assumption presented by <u>Forrester</u> is that a defendant's sole remedy for unjust conviction is his direct appeal. Florida's procedural mechanism provides a wide range of collateral review to a convicted inmate by means of Rules 3.800,

- 5 -

**3.850,** and Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus as set forth in Article V, Section **3** of the Florida Constitution. These collateral remedies provide ample resource for convicted defendants who are unsatisfied with the performance of their appointed counsel.

1

While the Attorney General does not agree with all points raised by the Public Defender, we do find fatal flaws in this decision.

The Attorney General contends that the approach taken in the <u>Forrester</u> opinion violates the separation of powers doctrine and places an appellate court in the position by which it dictates to the public defender agency the method by which it is to accomplish its work.

Furthermore, we contend that an adoption of the Wisconsin practice discussed in McCoy v. Court of Appeal, 486 U.S. \_\_\_, 108 S.Ct. \_\_\_, 100 L.Ed.2d 440 (1988), would do little or nothing to guarantee the right to effective representation counsel on appeal. The Attorney General finds the procedure set forth in <u>Penson v. Ohio</u>, 488 U.S. \_\_\_, 109 S.Ct. \_\_\_, 102 L.Ed.2d 300 (1988), better suited towards protecting the rights of indigent criminal defendants and would urge this Court to adopt it and apply it in concert with this Court's prior decision in <u>State v.</u> Causey, 503 So.2d 321 (Fla. 1987).

- 6 -

#### ARGUMENT

ć

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

THE FIRST DISTRICT'S REQUIREMENT THAT APPELLATE COUNSEL REPORT THE RESULT OF CONVERSATIONS WITH THE TRIAL LAWYER REGARDING THE MERIT OR LACK OF MERIT OF ISSUES HE PLANS TO RAISE ON APPEAL VIOLATES FORRESTER'S RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AS GUARANTEED UNDER THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND IT ALSO FORCES APPELLATE COUNSEL TO VIOLATE THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT.

## I. INTRODUCTION

The Attorney General of Florida took the extraordinary step of joining the Public Defender's petition to this Court because he is of the opinion that only this Court can effectively resolve the multitude of issues and problems which have arisen as the lower courts of this state have conscientiously attempted to interpret and apply <u>Anders v. California</u>, **386** U.S. **738**, **87** S.Ct. **1396**, **18** L.Ed.2d **493** (**1967**)<sup>1</sup>. As was discussed in our brief on jurisdiction, the Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit and the First District Court of Appeal have a long history regarding the application of <u>Anders</u> to their mutual cases. <u>Faust v.</u> <u>State</u>, **505** So.2d **8** (Fla. 1st DCA **1987**); <u>Stokes v. State</u>, **485** So.2d **875** (Fla. 1st DCA **1986**); Smith v. State, **496** So.2d **971**,

- 7 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Attorney General has filed a motion to restyle the case In Re: Order of the First District Court of Appeal Pursuant to Anders v. California. This case should not be continued as State v. Forrester in that the State is not a party.

(Fla. 1st DCA 1987), <u>on remand</u>, 508 So,2d 540 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).<sup>2</sup>

A review of the instant decision of the First District brings to mind the words of the three dissenting justices in <u>Anders v. California</u>, <u>supra</u>:

> The court today holds this procedure unconstitutional, and imposes upon appointed counsel who wishes to withdraw from a case he deems "wholly frivolous" the requirement of filing "a brief referring to anything in the record that might arguable support the appeal." But if the record did present any such "arguable" issues, the appeal would not be frivolous and counsel would not have filed a "no-merit" letter in the first place.

> The quixotic requirement imposed by the court can be explained, I think, only upon the cynical assumption that an appointed lawyer's professional representation to an appellate court in a "no-merit" letter is not to be trusted. That is an assumption to which I cannot subscribe. I cannot believe that lawyers appointed to represent indigents are so likely to be lacking in diligence, competence, or professional honesty. Certainly there was no suggestion in the present case that petitioner's counsel was either incompetent or unethical.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Fourth District Court of Appeal has also adopted the <u>Forrester</u> standard. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 14 F.L.W. 2013 (Fla. 4th DCA August 30,1989).

<u>Anders v. California</u>, 18 L,Ed,2d at 499-500. (Mr. Justice Stewart with whom Mr. Justice Black and Mr. Justice Harlan join dissenting).

£

Indeed, the nebulous standard of "reasonableness" so often employed by the Warren court<sup>3</sup> seems to be the core concern in the instant case as the opinion below contains a passage that deeply troubles the Public Defender:

> In our judgment, the briefs submitted by the Assistant Public Defender, with its one sentence reference to two cases, fails to conform with Anders' requirement that counsel conduct "a conscientious examination" of the case, Anders, 386 U.S. at 744, 87 S.Ct. at 1400, 18 L.Ed.2d at 498, as a precondition to any motion by appellate counsel to withdraw. Neither are we satisfied that the attorney has satisfied Anders' demand that his brief refer "to anything in the record that might arguably support the appeal," Id. In our interpretation of the duties placed upon counsel by Anders, we stated in Smith, 496 So.2d at 974, that "counsel should . . . present such argument as can *reasonably* be made in support of the defendant's position on each designated act, with appropriate citations to the record and pertinent authority, if there is any." (Emphasis added). If, however, "appellate counsel conclude[s] that he or she cannot make any reasonable argument in respect to the designated acts, then he or she should, before filing a brief in this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> And so often condemned by Mr. Justice Black, <u>Turner v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 396 U.S. 398 (1970)(Black, J., dissenting).

court, discuss the designated judicial acts with trial counsel and communicate with the defendant." <u>Id.</u>

Forrester v. State. 542 So,2d at 1359-60,

If left to the various court of appeal and various public defender agencies, attempts at applying the *reasonableness* standard will create a patchwork cloak of representational standards throughout the state. Obviously, lack of uniformity raises concern for equal protection under law and for adherence to the separation of powers doctrine. The Attorney General believes that only this Court can develop a standard for <u>Anders</u> review that will adequately address these concerns as well as the public defender's concerns with the ethical requirements placed on Florida attorneys and the Sixth Amendment guarantee of effective representation on direct appeal of a criminal case.

# 11. THE ROLE OF THE ATTORNEY

In <u>Penson v. Ohio</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Supreme Court reaffirmed the standard for appellate counsel set forth in <u>Anders v.</u> <u>California</u>, <u>supra</u>. The court reiterated the need for "a conscious examination of the case coupled with a brief referring to anything in the record that might arguably support the appeal." <u>Penson</u> 102 L.Ed.2d at **309**. Furthermore, as Justice Brennan noted in his dissent to <u>McCoy v. Court of Appeal</u>, <u>supra</u>:

Naturally, the defense counsel's duty to advocate, whether on appeal or at trial, is tempered by ethical rules. For example, counsel may not in her zeal to advocate her client's case fabricate law or facts or suborn perjury, and must at times disclose law contrary to her client's position. (Citation omitted). Similarly, defense counsel have an ethical duty not to press appeals they believe to be frivolous, even though other lawyers might see an issue of arguable merit. See Polk County, supra, at 323-324, 70 L.Ed.2d 509, 102 S.Ct. 445. For retained counsel, who may decline to represent a paying client in what counsel believes to be a frivolous appeal, the latter duty does not interfere with the duty of unwaivering allegiance to the client. Since, however, court appointed counsel may withdraw only with court approval, the indigent client who insists on pursuing an appeal his counsel finds frivolous presents a unique dilemma: appointed counsel, cast ostensibly in the role of defender, must announce to the court that will rule on her client's appeal that she believes her client has no case.

100 L.Ed.2d at 458.

To this delicate balance the <u>Forrester</u> opinion adds an additional requirement that appellate counsel discuss the designated judicial acts to be reviewed with trial counsel and prepare for the appellate court a designation that trial counsel agrees that these issues are frivolous. <u>Forrester</u>, at 1361. This requirement is not found in any decision of the United States Supreme Court or of this Court. It is respectfully submitted that this procedure adds little or nothing to the appellate assessment in that most, if not all, appellate issues differ greatly from those that normally confront the trial lawyer. Trial lawyers in the state system rarely file legal memoranda in support of their motions to suppress evidence or confessions, rarely raise issues concerning a concept such as retroactivity, sentencing decisions on grounds of rarely contest equal protection or due process or otherwise engage in the type of issue analysis which most frequently appears in the appellate courts. Frankly, many trial attorneys may feel a particular issue has merit when their own failure to raise a timely objection to the offending evidence bars the claim from appeal. Thus, Forrester's requirement that appellate counsel speak to trial counsel is apparently unsupported by case precedent and is additionally, practically unsound.

The <u>Forrester</u> opinion mixes apples with oranges when it sets forth the above requirement for trial counsel consultation in the context of an <u>Anders</u> brief. In the <u>Forrester</u> case, the district court went on at some length regarding the inadequacy of the public defender's response pursuant to <u>Anders</u>. <u>Id.</u> at 1360-61. The Attorney General cannot quarrel with the general concept that a court may reject a brief because it does not meet recognized standards. It is when the court goes beyond the requirement that counsel abide by Anders and begins to direct how a particular attorney goes about preparing a brief that the opinion stumbles into dangerous grounds.

### 111. SEPARATION OF POWERS

Plainly stated, Article I, Section 18 of the Florida Constitution provides that the elected Public Defenders will run the Public Defender's Office subject to the electoral whim of the populace. The courts will interpret the law and adjudicate the claims and controversies presented to them. When a district court of appeal begins to write opinions directing how an assistant public defender is to do his job, that determination violates the separation of powers clause. Such encroachment must not go unquestioned regardless of the laudable intent of the court in attempting to resolve a difficult issue.

As Mr. Justice Jackson stated in his concurring opinion in the case of <u>Youngstown Sheet and Tube Company v. Sawyer</u>, **343** U.S. **579, 72** S.Ct. **863, 96** L.Ed.2d **1153** (1952):

> The opinions of judges, no less than executives and publicists, often suffer the infirmity of confusing the issue of a power's validity with the cause it is invoked to promote, of confounding the permanent executive office with its temporary occupant. The tendency is strong to emphasize transient results upon policy - such as wages or stabilization and lose sight of enduring consequences upon the balance of powers structure of our republic.

Id. at 96 L, Ed. 2d at 1198.

The caution we urge upon this Court is not to allow this somewhat isolated problem, somewhat unique to this district, from justifying a wholesale blurring of the line between the court and the public defender. Although research failed to reveal any case squarely discussing this issue, we would urge the Court to compare our position to the results reached in the following Miller v. Carson, 392 F.Supp. 511, aff'd in part, cases. reversed in part, 563 F.2d 741 (5th Cir. 1977)(district court held it lacked expertise to instruct local fire marshal as to technical aspects of compliance with court's order to remedy overcrowded jail); Ridaught v. Div. of Fla. Highway Patrol, 314 So.2d 140 (Fla. 1975) (court's authority to review hiring policies of the Florida Highway Patrol was limited to a review of whether certain requirements were reasonable in constitutional framework. Specific technical requirements of trooper position were left solely to discretion of the patrol itself); and United States v. Pabian, 704 F.2d 533 (11th Cir. 1983)(court emphasizes that the "tradition and the dynamics of the constitutional scheme of separation of powers define a limited function for both court and prosecutor in their dealings with the grand jury.").

What these cases imply is a respect for the distinction between a court's ability to recognize a constitutional violation

- 14 -

as opposed to a complaint over the technical aspects of how the executive performs his duty. Only if this Court is satisfied that the problem found in this case rises to a level of constitutional violation should it accept the procedure of the district court of appeal. Arguably, this approach could be implemented through a rule of appellate procedure or other adequate standard. However, there seems to be little need for such an approach on a statewide basis.

If a court is unhappy with a particular assistant public defender, the court may require that the elected public defender show cause regarding the approach taken in a particular case or cases. Or the court, in particularly egregious situations, might refer an attorney to the Florida Bar. See, e.g. Molina v. State, 447 So.2d 253 (Fla, 3d DCA 1983). Such action would be focused upon particular attorney conduct after the fact as opposed to directory instruction regarding how a lawyer is to handle a pending case. If left unchecked, the court may next require that a lawyer spend a set number of hours in the law library or a set number of minutes researching on a computer terminal. Once such encroachment begins there is no way to draw the line. Therefore, the Attorney General strongly condemns any attempt by the district court to control the method of practice of the Public Defender's Offices.

## IV. THE ROLE OF THE APPELLATE COURT

i

The bottom line to this litigation appears to be a desire by the district court of appeal to avoid having to undertake a complete review of the record as is required of it by <u>Anders</u> and by this Court in <u>State v. Causey</u>, <u>supra</u>. In <u>Causey</u>, the issue presented was "to what extent must a district court review the record pursuant to the filing of an <u>Anders</u> brief." Rejecting the State's argument that the appellate court could satisfy itself with a cursory review, this Court held that <u>Anders</u> required a vigorous review independent of the parties. Id. at 322. However, Justice Kogan provided the following *caueat*:

> This is not to say that we read <u>Anders</u> as requiring a fine tooth comb style of review. By no means should this opinion be read to require district courts to read between the lines of a record to discover the most remote, unlikely error. At the very least, however, pursuant to <u>Anders</u>, in order to assure indigents fair and meaningful appellate review, the appellate court must examine the record to the extent necessary to discover any errors apparent on the face of the record. <u>Id</u>.

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